STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

CERTIORARI TO SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2016-000241

**RECEIVED**

FEB 17 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Carlos D. Smith,.....Respondent,

v.

State of South Carolina,.....Petitioner.

**PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

ALICIA A. OLIVE  
Assistant Attorney General  
SC Bar #102089

P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, S.C. 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

**

### **QUESTION PRESENTED**

Did the PCR judge err in finding Counsel was deficient in advising Respondent to plead guilty and there is no probative evidence to support the PCR judge's finding that Respondent established prejudice where he faced a sentence of ten to thirty years on a single charge and where he was exposed, in the aggregate, to a maximum 141 years of imprisonment if convicted of all charges?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Carlos D. Smith ("Respondent") is incarcerated with the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to the orders of commitment of the Spartanburg County Clerk of Court. Respondent was indicted at the January 2013 term of the Spartanburg County Grand Jury for four (4) counts of distribution of crack cocaine, 3rd offense<sup>1</sup> (2012-GS-42-1993, -6353, -6354, and -6357) (App. pp. 91-98, pp. 111-18); distribution of crack cocaine within a half mile of a school<sup>2</sup> (2012-GS-42-6356) (App. pp. 87-90); possession of marijuana, 2nd offense (2012-GS-42-2490) (App. pp. 103-06); possession of Oxycodone, 3rd offense (2012-GS-42-6352) (App. pp. 107-10); contributing to the delinquency of a minor (2012-GS-42-2489) (App. pp. 99-102), and possession of a weapon by a person convicted of a violent crime (2012-GS-42-6355) (App. pp. 119-22). Timothy Ray, Esquire represented Respondent.

On October 8, 2013, Respondent pleaded guilty to all charges as indicted. The

---

<sup>1</sup> (B) A person who manufactures, distributes, dispenses, delivers, purchases, or otherwise aids, abets, attempts, or conspires to manufacture, distribute, dispense, deliver, or purchase, or possesses with intent to distribute, dispense, or deliver methamphetamine or cocaine base, in violation of the provisions of Section 44-53-370, is guilty of a felony and, upon conviction:

(1) for a first offense, **must be sentenced to a term of imprisonment of not more than fifteen years. . . .**

(2) for a second offense or if, in the case of a first conviction of a violation of this section, the offender has been convicted of any of the laws of the United States or of any state, territory, or district relating to narcotic drugs, marijuana, depressant, stimulant, or hallucinogenic drugs, the offender **must be imprisoned for not less than five years nor more than thirty years . . . .**

(3) for a third or subsequent offense or if the offender has been convicted two or more times in the aggregate of any violation of the laws of the United States or of any state, territory, or district relating to narcotic drugs, marijuana, depressant, stimulant, or hallucinogenic drugs, the offender **must be imprisoned for not less than ten years nor more than thirty years. . . .**

S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-375(B)(1)-(3)(2003 & Supp. 2013)(emphasis added). See also Douglas S. Strickler, South Carolina Criminal Offenses and Penalties 208 (2015) (noting that distribution of cocaine base is a "serious" offense pursuant to section 17-25-45(B)).

<sup>2</sup> "A person who violates the provisions of this section is guilty of a felony and, upon conviction, must be fined not more than ten thousand dollars, or **imprisoned not more than ten years, or both.**" S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-445(D)(1).

Honorable J. Mark Hayes II sentenced Respondent to concurrent terms of twelve (12) years imprisonment for each distribution of crack cocaine charges; five (5) years for possession of a firearm by a person convicted of a violent felony; one (1) year for possession of marijuana; three (3) years for contributing to the delinquency of a minor; five (5) years for the possession of oxycodone – third offense; and ten (10) years for the distribution of crack within a half mile of a school. Respondent did not appeal his conviction or sentence.

Thereafter, Respondent filed an application for post-conviction relief ("PCR"). A hearing was held on January 12, 2016, at the Spartanburg County Courthouse before the Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr. J. Brandt Rucker, Esquire, represented Respondent. Alicia A. Olive, Esquire, of the South Carolina Office of the Attorney General, appeared on behalf of the State. Respondent testified in his own behalf. Timothy Ray, Esquire, also testified. On June 24, 2016, Judge Cothran ("the PCR judge") issued an order granting Respondent's application for PCR. Thereafter, the State filed a Notice of Appeal with this Court.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing questions of fact, this Court may affirm the post-conviction relief judge's grant relief only if there is probative evidence to support his findings. Wolfe v. State, 326 S.C. 158, 163, 485 S.E.2d 367, 369 (1997) (citing McCray v. State, 317 S.C. 557, 455 S.E.2d 686 (1995); Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624) (1989)). However, the reviewing Court will reverse the PCR court where there is no probative evidence to support the decision or the decision was controlled by an error of law. Kolle v. State, 386 S.C. 578, 589, 690 S.E.2d 73, 79 (2010).

## ARGUMENT

**The PCR judge erred in finding Counsel was deficient in advising Respondent to plead guilty and there is no probative evidence to support the PCR judge's finding that Respondent established prejudice where he faced a sentence of ten to thirty years on a single charge and where he was exposed, in the aggregate, to a maximum 141 years of imprisonment if convicted of all charges.**

The first charge arose from a controlled buy that took place on February 17, 2011. (App. p. 9). In that operation, an informant with the Spartanburg County Sheriff's Office was equipped with audio visual recording devices, and was provided funds. (App. p. 9). The informant used the funds to purchase 6.67 grams of crack cocaine from Respondent. (App. p. 9). On December 28, 2011, deputies responded to a noise complaint at an inn. (App. pp. 9-10). The deputies knocked on the door and a 17-year-old female answered the door and gave verbal permission to search. (App. p. 10). The search of the room and subsequently of Respondent yielded 6.05 grams of marijuana. (App. p. 10). On January 18, 2012, another controlled buy was carried out and the informant purchased .16 grams of crack cocaine from Respondent. (App. p. 10). This also took place within a half mile of a school. (App. p. 11). At the plea, the solicitor stated that was the case the State was prepared to try the case that week. (App. pp. 10-11). Two more controlled buys were carried out—one on August 27, 2012, yielding .14 grams of crack cocaine, and another on September 5, 2012, yielding .14 grams of crack cocaine. (App. pp. 11-12). Lastly, on October 4, 2012, deputies responded to the same residence for a home detention check, during which officers found a handgun, a bullet, drug paraphernalia, and Oxycodone. (App. p. 12).

Respondent agreed with these facts as presented to the plea judge at the plea. (App. p. 12). The plea judge informed Respondent he could sentence him from ten to thirty years on each of the four distribution of crack charges; up to ten years on the proximity charge, up to five years on the oxycodone charge; up to a year on the marijuana charge; up to five years on the firearm

charge, and up to three years on the delinquency of a minor charge. (App. pp. 12-15). Respondent admitted guilt as to all charges. (App. pp. 15-16). He also denied that he had been threatened or coerced to plead. (App. p. 7). He also averred that he was pleading freely and voluntarily. (App. p. 7).

At the PCR hearing, Respondent testified that he was scheduled to go forward with the trial on the day he pleaded guilty. (App. p. 44, lines 18-21). Respondent first said that he was served with a notice of life without parole. (App. p. 46). When he was asked if he believed the State was going to try him on all of the charges eventually and "try to get [him] life without parole," Respondent testified "Yeah, they told me if I took one to trial, I got to take all of them to trial." (App. p. 9). Respondent stated that "he said the only thing I had to do was get convicted of one of them." (App. p. 9). Respondent testified that but for his discussion with Counsel about the effect of the life without parole notice, he would not have entered the plea that day but would have "went on to trial." (App. p. 9, lines 18-22).

Counsel testified that he felt that if Respondent would have proceeded to trial, he would have most likely been convicted. (App. p. 61, lines 20-22). Counsel testified the State's evidence against Respondent consisted of several controlled buys that were the basis of the charges. (App. p. 61, lines 2-3). He stated:

some of them were questionable, but when it comes down to it, they were going to have someone that went in and bought drugs and identified [him] as the one they bought the drugs from. Except that the case we were about to go to trial on, they had the informant that bought drugs, and then the narcotics officers were there watching, and they were going to identify [Respondent] as the one [who] sold the drugs.

(App. p. 61, lines 4-12). Counsel testified that the State did not actually serve the life notice. He stated it was the State's intent to serve a life notice if they went forward to trial. (App. p. 63, lines 9-12). Counsel testified that he may have mistakenly informed him about his eligibility for life

without parole. (App. pp. 66-67). However, when asked if that advice was a major influencing factor on Respondent to enter a guilty plea, Counsel testified "It was part of it." (App. p. 67, lines 5-10). He testified "the other part is that he was facing four different offenses that carried very large sentences, and we had the opportunity to consolidate those in front of the judge that I believe to be more lenient in his sentencing. And that's what occurred." (App. p. 67, lines 11-16). Counsel further testified "my advice to him even if there was no possibility of [life without parole], would have been to resolve those in front of that judge." (App. p. 68, lines 1-4). Counsel further testified that he might have been successful at trial with respect to one of the four distribution charges, but that in his experience, "you're going to have a tough time winning all the way through." (App. p. 68, lines 9-21). Lastly, when asked: "regardless of the [life without parole] issue, based on your experience and the facts of this case and the State's case, would it still have been [his] advice to [Respondent] to take the guilty plea," Counsel responded, "Absolutely." (App. p. 71).

Respondent argued at the evidentiary hearing that Counsel was incorrect in advising Respondent that he could have exposed himself to a life sentence pursuant to 17-25-45(B), also known as the "three strikes law," Counsel was correct, and the PCR judge erred in finding that Counsel gave deficient advice.

Respondent had the burden of proving the allegations in his application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). The standard for evaluating claims of ineffective assistance of counsel is set forth in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). This two-part test requires proof that (1) Counsel's performance "fell below an objective standard of reasonableness," and that (2) "but for counsel's unprofessional errors," there is a reasonable probability that "the result of the proceeding would have been different." Id. at 687-88, 694. The

same test applies where the claim arises from the plea process. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 57 (1985). In the plea context, the second prong requires a showing that but for the error, the defendant would not have pleaded guilty, but would have insisted on going to trial. Id. at 59. “[T]he voluntariness of a guilty plea is not determined by an examination of the specific inquiry made by the sentencing judge alone, but is determined from both the record made at the time of the entry of the guilty plea and the record of the post-conviction hearing.” Harres v. Leeke, 282 S.C. 131, 133, 318 S.E.2d 360, 361 (1984) (quoting Lambert v. State, 260 S.C. 617, 198 S.E.2d 118 (1973)).

Section 17-25-45(B) provides:

(B) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, except in cases in which the death penalty is imposed, upon a conviction for a serious offense as defined by this section, a person must be sentenced to a term of imprisonment for life without the possibility of parole if that person has two or more prior convictions for:

(1) a serious offense;

(2) a most serious offense; [or]

...

(4) any combination of the offenses listed in items (1), (2), and (3) above.

Section 17-25-45(C)(2) provides:

(2) “Serious offense” means:

(a) any offense which is *punishable by a maximum term of imprisonment for thirty years or more* which is not referenced in subsection (C)(1); [and]

...

(b) those felonies enumerated as follows:

...

44-53-445(B)(1)&(2) Distribute, sell, manufacture, or possess with intent to distribute controlled substances within proximity of school.

Respondent was indicted for four counts of distribution of crack cocaine, third offense, each carrying a maximum term of imprisonment of thirty years. S.C. Code Ann. 44-53-

375(B)(3). He was also indicted for distribution of crack cocaine within a half-mile of a school, which is an offense that is specifically enumerated in section 17-25-45(C)(2). Respondent also had a previous conviction for assault and battery with intent to kill ("ABWIK").<sup>3</sup> (App. p. 16). Subsection 17-25-45(B)(4) provides that a person who has two or more prior convictions for a serious offense, a most serious offense, or a combination, must (at the discretion of the solicitor) be sentenced to life without parole upon the conviction of another a serious offense. S.C. Code Ann. 17-25-45(B)(1)-(4),(G). From a plain reading of the statute, it is clear that the offenses of distribution of crack cocaine, third offense, and distribution within a half-mile of a school are serious offenses within the meaning of 17-25-45(B) and (C). Additionally, ABWIK is specifically enumerated as a "most serious offense." S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45(C)(1). The solicitor stated to the plea judge that the State intended to try Respondent on the distribution and proximity charge first, and that trial had been scheduled to go forward the week of the plea. Accordingly, given that Respondent had a previous conviction for ABWIK, had Respondent proceeded to trial and been convicted of both the distribution of crack cocaine charge, and the distribution within a half-mile of a school charge, the State could have sought a sentence of life without parole pursuant to subsection 17-25-45(B)(4) on the remaining charges. See S.C. Code Ann. §§ 17-25-45(B)-(C).

The PCR judge found that Counsel "misinformed [Respondent] about the status of the law," specifically his eligibility for a sentence of life without parole. However, Petitioner submits that there is no evidence to support this conclusion. Counsel testified that the State had not actually served a notice of life without parole, but indicated it would seek life without parole if Respondent proceeded to trial. At the guilty plea hearing, Counsel noted that "these charges are

---

<sup>3</sup> The State does not dispute that though Respondent was convicted of two counts of ABWIK, it was considered a single occurrence.

strikes and they—he could have been struck out and received a life sentence if we would have gone forward with the trial. So that's part of his decision in going ahead and entering the plea." (App. p. 19, lines 10-14). Furthermore, Respondent never specifically testified that he was informed that he was going to get a sentence of life if he proceeded to the first trial. Rather, he testified that the State "told me if I took one to trial, I got to take all of them to trial." (App. p. 9. He also stated that "[Counsel] said the only thing I had to do was get convicted of one of them." (App. p. 9). As explained above, this advice was correct. Counsel accurately stated that the distributions were "strikes." Counsel's performance in advising Respondent that if he did not plead to all offenses at once, he would be faced with a potential sentence of life without parole was not below an objective standard of reasonableness in light to the language contained in the relevant statutes. Accordingly, Petitioner submits the PCR judge erred in finding that Counsel was deficient.

Regardless, even if this Court finds the PCR judge did not err in finding counsel was deficient for advising Respondent that he could be exposed to a sentence of life without parole if he chose to proceed to trial, there is no evidence to support the PCR judge's finding that such deficiency prejudiced Respondent.

To establish prejudice, Respondent was required to "show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial." Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52 (1985). "In determining guilty plea issues, it is proper to consider the guilty plea transcript as well as evidence at the PCR hearing." Davie v. State, 381 S.C. 601, 608, 675 S.E.2d 416, 420 (2009) (quoting Suber v. State, 371 S.C. 554, 558, 640 S.E.2d 884, 886 (2007)). The prejudice requirement arises from the conclusion that "an error by counsel, even if professionally unreasonable, does not warrant setting aside the

judgement of a criminal proceeding if the error had no effect on the judgment. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. at 57 (quoting Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 691 (1984)).

At the plea, Counsel stated that "in entering this plea, obviously these, these charges are strikes and they—he could have been struck out and received a life sentence if we would [have] gone forward with the trial. So that's part of his decision in going ahead and entering the plea." (App. p. 19). The record shows that the State intended to try Respondent on the charges arising from the January 18, 2012, controlled buy. If Respondent had been convicted, his exposure on the distribution alone was a *minimum* sentence of ten years of imprisonment, but he could have received *up to thirty*. He was also facing up to ten years on the proximity charge, which he might have been ordered to serve consecutively in the judge's discretion. Furthermore, regardless of the outcome of the initial trial, Respondent would still have been subject to prosecution on *all remaining charges*, including the three remaining distribution charges, each of which occurred on separate dates and carried penalties of ten to thirty years imprisonment. In the aggregate, Respondent's exposure on all of the charges was one-hundred and forty-one years (141) of imprisonment.

Respondent had prior convictions for public disorderly conduct and simple possession of marijuana in 1998, two counts of simple possession of marijuana in 1999, possession of marijuana, second offense, possession of Alprazolam, two counts of possession of crack cocaine second offense, sale of a pistol, and two counts of assault and battery with intent to kill (ABWIK) in 2000. (App. p. 16). Lastly, he had a 2010 conviction for simple possession of marijuana and a possession with intent to distribute crack cocaine first offense for which he was on probation at the time of his plea. (App. p. 16).

Respondent's testimony that he would have proceeded to trial instead of pleading guilty but for Counsel's alleged erroneous advice was not sufficient evidence to establish prejudice. Respondent had the burden of proving his allegations in his PCR hearing. The PCR judge's order contained only a conclusory finding that Respondent proved prejudice. (App. p. 84). This Court has found sufficient, *where undisputed*, an applicant's statement that but for the deficiency, he would not have pleaded guilty but would have insisted on going to trial. Alexander v. State, 303 S.C. 539, 543, 402 S.E.2d 484, 485 (1991) (finding applicant met his burden where the *only* evidence in the record was applicant's own testimony that he would not have pled guilty but for counsel's erroneous advice). Cf. Smith v. State, 369 S.C. 135, 138, 631 S.E.2d 260, 261 (2006) (finding applicant did not satisfy his burden of proof even though the PCR judge had no plea transcript to review and the State did not present counsel's testimony where the applicant only alleged in his application he would not have pleaded guilty but did not testify to that effect). Respondent testified that but for the alleged deficiency of Counsel, he would not have pleaded guilty, but would have insisted on going to trial. Counsel stated that the possibility of an eventual life without parole sentence was only part of Respondent's decision to plead. He stated that the other part was that he was facing significant time—up to thirty years—on each of the charges, and that by pleading in front of that particular judge, he would get leniency. (App. p. 67). Counsel stated that regardless of the fact he might have misunderstood Respondent's eligibility for life without parole, *he would still have "absolutely" advised Respondent to plead guilty.*

Regardless of the accuracy of counsel's advice concerning life without parole eligibility, Respondent was facing an aggregate of 141 years in prison. Respondent had a lengthy record, including a conviction for a most serious crime. By resolving his case with a plea, Respondent received a sentence of twelve years on *all* charges. Thus, Respondent received a significant

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