ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Richland County

Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Circuit Court Judge

NORMAN MITCHELL,

RECEIVED
MAR 27 2017
S.C. SUPREME COURT

RESPONDENT,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-000241

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

LAURA R. BAER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

Petitioner conflates challenges to the identification with challenges to Ms. Gilmore’s independent recollection of her assailant’s appearance. Cert. Pet. p. 11. The PCR judge found that Dr. McQuiston’s testimony would have aided both the trial court and the jury, implying that

the trial judge may have reconsidered his *Biggers* ruling if aided by the expert. As will be discussed more fully in Issue II, trial counsel should have requested that the trial judge reconsider his ruling on the admissibility of the show-up identification after Ms. Gilmore said her assailant had long hair, in contrast to Mitchell, who was bald on the day of the incident. Even so, exclusion of the out-of-court identification would not preclude Ms. Gilmore's testimony regarding her independent recollection of her assailant's appearance. Thus, with or without the identification, trial counsel could have pointed to the obvious inconsistency between her in-court description of the assailant and Mitchell. Were the identification admitted despite expert testimony at the *Biggers* hearing, Dr. McQuiston's testimony would help explain why Ms. Gilmore could be so certain of her identification of Mitchell – because she was influenced by the radio transmissions she overheard and the suggestive nature of the show-up. Thus, Ms. Gilmore's mid-trial recollection of her assailant's hair did not obviate the need for an identification expert or inject any strategy into the failure to consult an eyewitness identification expert prior to trial.

In an attempt to manufacture an error of law by the PCR court, Petitioner asserts that the PCR court “disregarded the applicable case law and adopted a new standard” “unsupported by any authority.” Cert. Pet., p. 6. Petitioner suggests that “the longstanding standard as to whether counsel was ineffective for failing to retain and present an expert at trial . . . is that counsel is *not* ineffective when he vigorously cross-examines the State's witnesses and attacks the accuracy of the evidence.” See Cert. Pet., p. 6 (emphasis in original). This is not an accurate interpretation of *Frasier v. State*, 306 S.C. 158, 410 S.E.2d 572 (1991), or *Lorenzen v. State*, 376 S.C. 521, 657 S.E.2d 771 (2008). The proper standard for accessing whether trial counsel's representation was deficient, which was applied in this case, is the Strickland standard.

In Frasier v. State, 306 S.C. 158, 410 S.E.2d 572 (1991), the applicant alleged that his trial attorney was deficient in failing to procure an expert to challenge the DNA evidence that linked his co-defendant to the sexual assault of the victim. The DNA analysis did not implicate Frasier himself. 306 S.C. at 159-60, 410 S.E.2d at 573. Further, though he claimed he was forced at gunpoint, there was evidence that Frasier admitted to having intercourse with the victim. Id. A witness also testified that they had overheard Frasier and his co-defendant planning the crime and later bragging that it worked. Id. In affirming the PCR court's denial of relief, this Court simply wrote: "The record reveals that trial counsel vigorously cross-examined the state's DNA experts and attacked the accuracy of the evidence. We cannot say that his performance was unreasonable under prevailing professional norms." Id. at 160-61, 410 S.E.2d at 573. Contrary to Petitioner's assertion, this case specific ruling did not establish that an attorney can never be found deficient "when he vigorously cross-examines the State's witnesses and attacks the accuracy of the evidence." Cert. Pet. pp. 6, 8.

In Lorenzen v. State, 376 S.C. 521, 657 S.E.2d 771 (2008), the applicant alleged that his trial attorney should have consulted with and called an expert to: "(1) examine him in order to prove that he was not a pedophile; (2) discuss the lack of physical evidence of sexual abuse; (3) delve into the psychological issues of the victim; and (4) challenge Dr. Jordan's testimony." This Court again found that "counsel's failure to procure expert witnesses did not render her representation deficient given she vigorously cross-examined the State's witnesses and attacked the accuracy of the evidence." 376 S.C. at 525-26, 657 S.E.2d at 774. Unlike Mitchell, who presented testimony from Dr. Dawn McQuiston, Lorenzen failed to present any expert testimony

at his PCR hearing, making his allegation that such experts would have aided his defense merely speculative. Id. at 530, 657 S.E.2d at 776-77.

With respect to the sufficiency of cross-examination, it is significant that the solicitors in Lorenzen presented testimony from two physicians who conducted physical examinations on the victim and testimony from Dr. Kay Jordan who specialized in child sexual abuse and provided counseling to the victim. Id. at 524-25, 657 S.E.2d at 773-74. Thus, Lorenzen's trial counsel had three expert witnesses whom she could question regarding "the lack of physical evidence of sexual abuse" and "the psychological issues of the victim." See 376 S.C. at 525-26, 657 S.E.2d at 774. She was also able to "challenge Dr. Jordan's testimony" through objections and cross-examination, as she apparently did "vigorously." Id. at 525-26, 531, 657 S.E.2d at 774, 777.

The lesson from both cases is not that cross-examination is a *per se* shield from a finding of deficiency. Instead, the PCR court must examine the extent and purpose of the cross-examination in contrast to the expert testimony presented at the PCR hearing. Here, unlike Lorenzen, the state did not call any expert witness that trial counsel could ask about how memory works, the impact of an event's duration on memory, "own race bias," weapons focus, the lack of correlation between accuracy and confidence, or proper identification procedures. While *some* facts related to the concepts about which Dr. McQuiston testified were elicited through the lay witnesses at trial, that fell short of what was required in this case, where the identification was so central to the state's case and highly suspect. The case lacked the expert testimony *necessary* to explain the significance of the testimony elicited on cross-examination to the jury.

While Petitioner suggests that the PCR court's decision requires that defense counsel always retain an expert to challenge an identification, the court's ruling has no such implication.

Rather, the PCR court wrote: “After a complete review of the trial transcript, the testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing, and the arguments made by counsel, this Court finds that *the identification concerns in this case are so severe and central to the heart of the conviction in this matter* that vigorous cross-examination of the victim alone was not sufficient to challenge the accuracy of the identification in such a [manner] to ensure a just result.” App. 658 (emphasis added). The PCR court then engaged in a lengthy analysis of the testimony presented at the trial and the testimony of the identification expert presented at the PCR hearing, noting how her testimony would have aided the trial court in its evaluation of the admissibility of the identification and aided jurors who would be unfamiliar with many of the concepts she explained. App. 658 - 664. Thus, the PCR court engaged in exactly the fact based inquiry required under Strickland and properly distinguished the facts of the present case from those of Frasier and Lorenzen.

Petitioner presents several additional “concerns” with what it improperly deems the PCR court’s “new standard.” Cert. Pet. pp. 7-8. Far from injecting the court into the attorney-client relationship, as Petitioner suggests, the PCR court’s ruling in this case effectuated the constitutional requirement that trial counsel render effective assistance of counsel - which can require consultation and retention of an expert witness. Requiring that defense counsel make a reasonable investigation on behalf of his or her client does not shift the burden of proof to the defense. Further, to the extent that a strategic decision is made not to consult or retain an expert, that strategy may well save the attorney from a deficiency finding, so long as the strategy is valid and reasonable. Petitioner’s additional “concern” about the defendant’s loss of last closing argument is moot in light of this Court’s recent holding in State v. Beaty, No. 2015-000718, 2016 WL 7474479, at *2-3 (S.C. Dec. 29, 2016), *cross-petitions for r’hrq pending* (holding that

in a criminal trial where the party with the “middle” argument requests, the party with the right to the first and last closing argument must open in full on the law and the facts, and in reply may respond in full to the other party’s argument but may not raise new matter). Moreover, it is notable that in the present case, the defendant testified such that none of the “concerns” presented by Petitioner are applicable to these facts.

In sum, contrary to Petitioner’s assertion, the PCR court’s finding that counsel’s other efforts to attack the identification were insufficient to overcome their failure to consult and retain an expert in that area was precisely the fact-specific application of the Strickland standard that he was required to conduct. Trial counsel’s admission that their failure to call an expert was a product of ignorance rather than strategy provides them no protection from a finding of deficiency. Thus, the PCR court committed no error in finding that counsel were deficient and the court’s finding was supported by ample evidence in the record.

B. The PCR judge properly found that there was a reasonable probability that the result of the trial would have been different had an eyewitness identification expert been called at Respondent’s trial.

The evidence against Mitchell was circumstantial. Admittedly, even without the out-of-court identification testimony, there was sufficient evidence to overcome the directed verdict motion. However, that is *not* the standard for proving deficiency on post-conviction relief. Rather, Mitchell was only required to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that there was a reasonable probability that the result of trial would have been different but for trial counsels’ deficiency. Petitioner focuses upon the evidence taken in the light most favorable to the state, neglecting the plausible explanation of events asserted by Mitchell. Under the limited analysis that Petitioner asserts should have been conducted, no applicant could be successful on post-conviction relief because of the original jury’s finding of guilt. See Cert Pet., p. 12.

To show prejudice, a defendant must demonstrate there is a reasonable probability the result of the trial would have been different absent trial counsel's deficient performance. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117-18, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial. Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 183, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997). No prejudice occurs, despite deficient performance, when there is overwhelming evidence of guilt. Rosemond v. Catoe, 383 S.C. 320, 325, 680 S.E.2d 5, 8 (2009).

Here, there was a reasonable likelihood that the expert's testimony would have influenced that trial judge's decision to admit the show-up identification at all. Her testimony directly contradicted several of the reliability factors that the trial judge cited in support of his decision to admit the identification. Specifically, Judge Manning noted that the victim was "looking at him the whole time," "had an opportunity to observe the perpetrator," and that her degree of attention was "specific and direct." App. 119, ll. 4-16. He also found that the "level of certainty she demonstrated at the confrontation was high and the length of time between the crime and the confrontation was very little." App. 119, ll. 17-20. While he found the accuracy of her prior description "a little bit weak," he determined under the totality of the circumstances to admit the testimony on the show-up identification. App. 119, ll. 16-24. Expert testimony at the Biggers hearing may well have swayed the judge to weigh these factors differently and exclude the out-of-court identification altogether.

Even with the identification admitted, this case presented a quintessential jury question, the resolution of which rested upon whether they believed in Ms. Gilmore's identification of Mitchell as her assailant such the evidence cannot be found overwhelming. In Smith v. State, 386 S.C. 562, 569, 689 S.E.2d 629, 633 (2010), this Court held that there was "no valid claim of

overwhelming evidence of Smith's guilt" because of the "great deal of conflicting testimony from virtually every State and defense witness who testified at trial." In State v. Stokes, 339 S.C. 154, 162, 528 S.E.2d 430, 434 (Ct. App. 2000), the Court of Appeals found no overwhelming evidence of guilt where the evidence presented "two diametrically opposed versions of the events, either one of which is plausible."

Here, there was no dispute that a carjacking occurred such that the sole question for the jury was the identity of the assailant. The state's witness provided inconsistent testimony regarding where and when Mitchell was first seen in the car, and Mitchell provided a plausible scenario that he rented the car from the true assailant at the Grey Hound bus station just blocks away from the carjacking. It is further notable that the jury in this case was given no charge on identification, which even if given would have been only a general charge noting a few of the relevant factors to be considered. See State v. Green, 412 S.C. 65, 78, 770 S.E.2d 424, 431 (Ct. App. 2015) (finding some of the requested charges, including the requested charge on cross-racial identification, "would have been improper instructions into matters of fact or comments on the weight of the evidence"); State v. Robinson, 274 S.C. 198, 203, 262 S.E.2d 729, 731 (1980) (declining to adopt *Telfaire* charge). Thus, the only proper avenue to inform the jury about the *how* to weight the various factors and educate them on matters like own race bias and weapons focus was through an expert.

In sum, the failure to call the expert in eyewitness identification prejudiced Mitchell because there is a reasonable likelihood that it would have affected the admissibility of the out-of-court identification, or at the very least, influenced the juror's consideration of the identification testimony. Further, the circumstantial evidence against Mitchell was not overwhelming.

II. The PCR court's grant of post-conviction relief should be affirmed pursuant to Rules 220(c) and 243(g), SCACR, because defense counsel violated Respondent's constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel where they failed to request reconsideration of the admissibility of the victim's show-up identification after the victim provided testimony at trial that her assailant had "long nappy hair" and the booking photograph of Respondent showed that he was bald on the day of the incident.

While the PCR court did not rule on this allegation, pursuant to Rule 220(c), SCACR, "an appellate court may affirm the lower court's judgment for any reason appearing in the record on appeal." I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 420-21, 526 S.E.2d 716, 723-24 (2000); Rule 243(g), SCACR ("The return may rephrase the questions, offer additional sustaining grounds, and present a concise counter-statement."). "[W]hen the lower court rules in one party's favor, it is not necessary for that party to return to the court and ask for a ruling on remaining issues and arguments in order to preserve those arguments for use in an appeal." I'On, LLC, 338 S.C. at 423, 526 S.E.2d at 725.

Here, though discussed in the order granting post-conviction relief, the PCR court did not specifically rule that trial counsel were ineffective in failing to ask the trial judge to reconsider his ruling on the admissibility of the out-of-court identification when Ms. Gilmore testified during trial that her assailant had long hair – a fact not mentioned in any of the discovery materials or during the original Biggers hearing. App. 661. Trial counsel May admitted at the PCR hearing that no such request for reconsideration was made. App. 593, ll. 9-23.